Published for SISSA by O Springer

RECEIVED: January 20, 2016 REVISED: April 20, 2016 ACCEPTED: April 30, 2016 PUBLISHED: May 24, 2016

On dilatons and the LHC diphoton excess

Eugenio Megías,^a Oriol Pujolàs^b and Mariano Quirós^{b,c,d}

^a Max-Planck-Institut für Physik (Werner-Heisenberg-Institut), Föhringer Ring 6, Munich, D-80805 Germany

- Campus UAB, Bellaterra, Barcelona, 08193 Spain
- ^cInstitució Catalana de Recerca i Estudis Avançats (ICREA),
- Campus UAB, Bellaterra, Barcelona, 08193 Spain
- ^d ICTP South American Institute for Fundamental Research & Instituto de Física Teórica, Universidade Estadual Paulista, R. Dr. Bento T. Ferraz 271, Bl. II, São Paulo, SP, 01140-070 Brazil

E-mail: emegias@mppmu.mpg.de, pujolas@ifae.es, quiros@ifae.es

ABSTRACT: We study soft wall models that can embed the Standard Model and a naturally light dilaton. Exploiting the full capabilities of these models we identify the parameter space that allows to pass Electroweak Precision Tests with a moderate Kaluza-Klein scale, around 2 TeV. We analyze the coupling of the dilaton with Standard Model (SM) fields in the bulk, and discuss two applications: i) Models with a light dilaton as the first particle beyond the SM pass quite easily all observational tests even with a dilaton lighter than the Higgs. However the possibility of a 125 GeV dilaton as a Higgs impostor is essentially disfavored; ii) We show how to extend the soft wall models to realize a 750 GeV dilaton that could explain the recently reported diphoton excess at the LHC.

KEYWORDS: Phenomenology of Field Theories in Higher Dimensions, Phenomenology of Large extra dimensions

ARXIV EPRINT: 1512.06106



^bInstitut de Física d'Altes Energies (IFAE),

The Barcelona Institute of Science and Technology (BIST),

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Light dilatons from an extra dimension	3
	2.1 Benchmark model	5
	2.2 Spectra and mass formulae	9
	2.2.1 Scalars	9
	2.2.2 Vectors and tensors	11
3	Electroweak breaking	13
4	Dilaton couplings in the minimal model	17
	4.1 Coupling to gauge bosons	17
	4.2 Coupling to fermions	19
	4.3 Radion-Higgs mixing	20
	4.4 Standard Model plus a light dilaton	23
5	The diphoton excess	24
6	Conclusions	28
\mathbf{A}	Standard Model gauge fluctuations	30

1 Introduction

After the recent discovery of a Higgs-like resonance at LHC, it is of the greatest importance to assess what kind of Higgs-like particle it is. One of the most interesting alternatives to the Standard Model (SM) Higgs is that this state actually is a dilaton, a pseudo-Goldstone boson of the Spontaneous Breaking of Conformal Invariance (SBCI) [1, 2]. This pattern of symmetry breaking forces that the dilaton couplings to fermions/gauge bosons are proportional to their mass and therefore a dilaton could in principle well mimic a SM Higgs. Recent progress indicates that a light dilaton can indeed emerge naturally in strong (or extra dimensional) sectors [3–5], see also [6–11]. Models of this type can embed the Standard Model (SM) and might give a concrete realization of a light dilaton.

On the experimental side, discriminating between a SM Higgs and a Higgs plus a light dilaton is not straightforward because it requires an accurate measurement of the 'Higgs' couplings. The current uncertainty in these measurements being around 10% [12], the pessimist will find it as little indication beyond the SM. Seeing the bottle half-full, though, one might say that there is still a considerable room to fit such an option (at least while awaiting LHC Run II results).

The available phenomenological studies on light dilatons (and even on dilaton impostors) are mostly based either on Effective Field Theory (EFT) analyses or on rather narrow classes of five-dimensional models [2, 6-8, 13-20]. The structure of the dilaton interactions essentially follows from the SBCI pattern, but this still leaves a significant amount of model dependence. In the first place, the overall strength of the dilaton couplings depends on a new parameter, f, the scale of the SBCI which does not need to exactly coincide with the electroweak (EW) scale v = 246 GeV. Just like for the SM Higgs, the trilinear dilaton couplings are proportional to the mass: for fermions (gauge bosons) they scale like m_F/f (m_V^2/f) . Thus, if f is close to, but not exactly, v then the dilaton can look quite close to the SM Higgs. The main challenge, then, is how to comply with the rest of observations such as the EW precision tests (EWPT). We discuss this below, but it is not hard to imagine that considering a rich enough class of models can help in this respect. Let us now add that there is actually more model-dependence coming from the fact that naturally light dilatons require some amount of explicit breaking of conformal invariance [3-5], which can be introduced in a number of ways. The dilaton couplings to the various SM species are sensitive to how much explicitly/spontaneously that species is breaking conformal invariance. Then for the present discussion it seems relevant to analyze, within some well defined class of models, whether or not there is any viable dilaton model that looks like a SM Higgs within 10% of the various measured couplings.

Having this as our main motivation, we aim to study in this article the simplest workable models that naturally produce light dilatons, in the form of soft walls, or warped extra dimensions. We consider a class of models that is simple enough to be tractable and large enough to include the necessary *dials* that allow to exploit the full capabilities of extra-dimensional models. This is crucial in order to possibly realize realistic values of the dilaton couplings to the rest of the SM particles as well as to pass the experimental tests.

For instance, concerning the dilaton as a Higgs-impostor application, in the extradimensional realizations the Kaluza-Klein (KK) scale $m_{\rm KK}$ (the mass of the first KKresonance) must not exceed a few TeV, simply because $m_{\rm KK}$ and f (that is, the EW scale v) are then linked by $m_{\rm KK} \leq 4\pi v$. This already poses an important constraint, since in too simplified models even EWPT are enough to push $m_{\rm KK}$ up to around 10 TeV, which would render the construction unattractive. Fortunately we find that soft wall models naturally contain the ingredients that allow a low $m_{\rm KK}$ and pass EWPT. Technically, this results from having superpotentials with exponential dependence on the Goldberger-Wise scalar ϕ (see also e.g. ref. [21] for recent analyses of similar models) in the infrared. This is known in the literature as hyperscaling and it seems to correspond in the conformal field theory (CFT) interpretation to a quasi-scale invariant regime that is parameterized by the exponent in the superpotential. We will not enter here into the full meaning and CFT interpretation of this hyperscaling like regime. We simply observe that it is one of the *dials* that the models will benefit from.

Another important constraint concerns naturalness. It has been recently appreciated that the SBCI, and therefore the appearance of a light dilaton in the spectrum, can be realized in a natural way [3–11], and the simplest realizations can keep the dilaton lighter than the SBCI scale by up to a factor 10–100. Provided $m_{\rm KK}$ can be kept around the few

TeV range, this should allow to comfortably make a light dilaton and even a dilaton Higgs impostor candidate from this respect.

Besides the possibility of a hypothetical Higgs-impostor scenario, there are at least two more reasons why light dilaton models are interesting/useful (beyond the fact that the dilaton represents the lightest state of a quite large class of strong/extra-dimensional models). Adding a light dilaton-like scalar to the SM Higgs has a very positive impact on baryogenesis [22]. Lastly, the recently reported diphoton excess at LHC [23–25] could be modelled as due to a ~ 750 GeV dilaton. Since the dilaton is naturally expected to be the lightest excitation, this possibility has a certain added appeal. In summary, our aim is to assess whether warped extra dimensional models are able to model a naturally light dilaton, or it can exist a viable 750 GeV dilaton giving rise to the $\gamma\gamma$ ATLAS and CMS excess.

Let us now briefly sketch the soft wall models that we shall consider here, and how they look like in the CFT interpretation. We will consider that the five-dimensional (5D) bulk geometries are close to Anti-de-Sitter (AdS) near the 'ultraviolet (UV) brane', and that they are driven away from AdS by a neutral scalar field ϕ near the 'infrared (IR) brane'. This picture is dual to a (UV fixed point) CFT deformed by a scalar singlet operator \mathcal{O} (dual to ϕ), in such a way that the deformation is confining — it produces the infrared scale m_{KK} . The dilaton that appears in these models arises from the \mathcal{O} operator — it is one of its excitation modes. In addition to this, we include 5D versions of SM fields, including a 5D Higgs doublet. In the CFT picture, the CFT contains SM-like operators, including a Higgs doublet H. The breaking of conformal invariance and of the EW symmetry are naturally related because of the allowed couplings between H and ϕ . Upon breaking EW symmetry, there can be up to two types of resonances: one from \mathcal{O} and the other from the radial direction of H. Our main aim here is to show how to construct models of this sort which are phenomenologically viable and based on the well understood tools from extra dimensional models.

This paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we introduce the extra dimensional model, and present the results for the dilaton mass and the KK spectrum of vector and tensor fluctuations. A semi-analytical approximation for these results can be obtained from some mass formulae, which allows the computation of the lightest modes of the spectra by simple integrals of the background fields. Some versions of these formulae will be also presented in this section. We confront these results with EWPT, and find the corresponding bounds for the dilaton and the KK masses in section 3. We study in section 4 the coupling of the light dilaton with SM matter fields which essentially disfavors the possibility of a 125 GeV dilaton as a Higgs impostor. We analyze in section 5 an extension of this model and its implications on the couplings, and the application to the diphoton excess by a 750 GeV dilaton. Finally we conclude with a discussion of our results in section 6. Some technical details are left to appendix A.

2 Light dilatons from an extra dimension

In this section we describe generic 5D warped models that give rise to a naturally light dilaton state. In the subsections we particularize these results to a specific benchmark

model, and study in details its background properties and the corresponding spectrum of excitations. We consider a 5D space with an arbitrary metric A(y) such that in proper coordinates

$$ds^{2} = e^{-2A(y)} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + dy^{2}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where $\eta_{\mu\nu} = (-1, 1, 1, 1)$, and two branes localized at $y = y_0 = 0$ and $y = y_1$ which we will refer in the following as UV and IR branes respectively. We are following the conventions of refs. [26–29].

The dynamics of the coupled scalar-gravitational system is defined by the action

$$S = M^{3} \int d^{5}x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{M} \phi)^{2} - V(\phi) \right)$$
$$- M^{3} \sum_{\alpha} \int d^{4}x dy \sqrt{-g} \, 2\mathcal{V}^{\alpha}(\phi) \delta(y - y_{\alpha}) \,, \tag{2.2}$$

where \mathcal{V}^{α} ($\alpha = 0, 1$) are the four-dimensional (4D) brane potentials and M is the 5D Planck scale. The dilaton field ϕ in the above action is dimensionless, while the mass dimension is 2 for $V(\phi)$ and 1 for $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha}(\phi)$. The 4D (reduced) Planck mass $M_{\rm Pl} = 2.4 \times 10^{18} \,\text{GeV}$ is related to M by¹

$$M_{\rm Pl}^2 = 2M^3 \int e^{-2A} dy \,. \tag{2.3}$$

The equations of motion are

$$3\ddot{A}(y) = \frac{\dot{\phi}^2(y)}{2} + \sum_{\alpha} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha}(\phi)\delta(y - y_{\alpha}), \qquad (2.4)$$

$$6\dot{A}^{2}(y) = -\frac{V(\phi)}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\dot{\phi}^{2}(y), \qquad (2.5)$$

$$\ddot{\phi}(y) - 4\dot{A}(y)\dot{\phi}(y) = V'(\phi) + \sum_{\alpha} 2\mathcal{V}'_{\alpha}(\phi)\delta(y - y_{\alpha}).$$
(2.6)

The boundary conditions on the branes are obtained by integrating in a small interval around $y = y_{\alpha}$, yielding

$$\dot{A}(y)\Big|_{y_{\alpha}^{-}}^{y_{\alpha}^{+}} = \frac{1}{3}\mathcal{V}_{\alpha}(y_{\alpha}), \qquad \dot{\phi}(y)\Big|_{y_{\alpha}^{-}}^{y_{\alpha}^{+}} = 2\mathcal{V}_{\alpha}'(y_{\alpha}).$$

$$(2.7)$$

By imposing \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold symmetry across each brane one obtains

$$\dot{A}(y_{\alpha}) = (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{1}{6} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha}(y_{\alpha}), \qquad \dot{\phi}(y_{\alpha}) = (-1)^{\alpha} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha}'(y_{\alpha}).$$
(2.8)

As is well known, the equations of motion can be reduced to first-order form by introducing a superpotential $W(\phi)$ [30, 31], given by²

$$V(\phi) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left[W'(\phi) \right]^2 - \frac{1}{3} W(\phi)^2 \,. \tag{2.9}$$

¹In what follows we will set units where $M^3 = 1$, and define $\dot{X}(y) \equiv dX/dy$, $X'(\phi) \equiv dX/d\phi$.

²This equation can be viewed as an equation for V given W, or the converse. In this section we will consider W as an input, and will focus on the specific model in section 2.1.

The background equations of motion then reduce to

$$\dot{A}(y) = \frac{1}{6}W(\phi(y)), \qquad \dot{\phi}(y) = W'(\phi) .$$
 (2.10)

It is then convenient to introduce the localized effective potentials

$$U_{\alpha}(\phi) \equiv \mathcal{V}_{\alpha}(\phi) - (-1)^{\alpha} W(\phi) \,. \tag{2.11}$$

With these, the boundary conditions together with the equations of motion lead to

$$U_{\alpha}(\phi)\big|_{y=y_{\alpha}} = 0, \qquad U_{\alpha}'(\phi)\big|_{y=y_{\alpha}} = 0.$$
(2.12)

Thus one can think that the brane dynamics $\mathcal{V}^{\alpha}(\phi)$ fixes the values of the field on the brane, which we shall call $\phi_{\alpha} = (\phi_0, \phi_1)$ for the UV and IR branes respectively.³ Setting $A(y_0) = 0$, the inter-brane distance y_1 , as well as the location of the singularity at $y_s \equiv y_1 + \Delta$ and the warp factor $A(y_1)$, are all functions of the field-values ϕ_{α} on the branes.

An important quantity that controls the properties of the dilaton states is the holographic β -function, defined by

$$-\beta(\phi) = 6\frac{W'(\phi)}{W(\phi)} .$$
 (2.13)

For exponential superpotentials behaving in the IR as $W \sim e^{\bar{c}\phi}$, the holographic β -function goes to a constant, $\beta \sim 6\bar{c}$. Models of this type, with $\bar{c} > \sqrt{3/2}$, are able to give 'confinement' (a discrete spectrum in all sectors) even without the presence of the IR brane, see e.g. [26]. With $\bar{c} < \sqrt{3/2}$, they give rise to a continuous spectrum with quasi-scaling (known as 'hyperscaling' or 'hyperscaling violation') and the IR brane is required in order to have a discrete spectrum. Even though the confining soft-wall models (with $\bar{c} > \sqrt{3/2}$) appear simpler, realizing a light dilaton requires $\beta(\phi)$ to jump fast enough from small to $\mathcal{O}(1)$ values [9].⁴ Instead, if we accept the presence of the IR brane, then the interesting regime is that where the parameter \bar{c} (controlling the size of the beta function and the amount of hyperscaling in the IR) is small. In both cases, we are introducing basically a one-parameter (\bar{c}) family of models that generalize in one way or another the previous analyses [6, 7].

2.1 Benchmark model

Depending on whether one defines the model by specifying the superpotential $W(\phi)$ or the potential $V(\phi)$, eq. (2.9) can be viewed either as an algebraic equation for $V(\phi)$ or a first order differential equation for $W(\phi)$. The two prescriptions are qualitatively different because the second option involves an additional integration constant that has to be fixed by some appropriate condition. That option is reviewed for instance in [9]. The additional

³One can trade the values of $\mathcal{V}'_{\alpha}(\phi_{\alpha})$ by the branes' locations y_{α} (or ϕ_{α}). Equation (2.12) appears to imply that we are doing two cosmological constant fine-tunings. For general enough solutions, this is really just one fine-tuning because W satisfies a differential equation and one can play with the associated integration constant. It is only in simplified models with a fixed analytical W that this appears like two tunings that allow to eliminate $\mathcal{V}^{\alpha}(\phi_{\alpha})$.

⁴This will require to introduce one more parameter as we will see next.

integration constant is identified as the condensate $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle$ of the operator along the deformation direction ($\delta \mathcal{L} = \lambda \mathcal{O}$), and the boundary condition that fixes it is that the IR end of the flow is the least singular possible.

The other prescription — fixing directly the superpotential — represents a fine-tuned case in which that condensate is artificially set to vanish. Importantly, even in that case, a dilaton mode can still be present. The physical reason seems to be that, even with $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = 0$, conformal invariance is broken in the infrared by the dynamics. The dilaton continues to correspond to the fluctuation of the condensate, and whether or not it is light is still controlled by the value of β at the threshold where β starts to grow. Therefore, it is possible (and convenient) to simplify the model by setting to this class of models where $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = 0$. This is especially convenient once we allow for the presence of an IR brane, which is dual to the condensate of another CFT operator $\langle \mathcal{O}' \rangle$.

Thus in the present work we will consider an analytic superpotential model defined by two (positive) real parameters a and c,⁵

$$W(\phi) = 6k \left(1 + e^{a\phi}\right)^c, \qquad (2.14)$$

from where the holographic β -function is given by

$$-\beta(\phi) = 6\frac{W'(\phi)}{W(\phi)} = 6ac \left[1 + e^{-a\phi}\right]^{-1}.$$
 (2.15)

The parameter $\bar{c} \equiv ca$ determines the value of $-\beta(\phi)$ in the $\phi \to \infty$ limit (6 \bar{c}) and the parameter *a* governs the slope of $-\beta(\phi)$ at $\phi = 0$, which is given by $3a\bar{c}$. We prefer to use in the following the parameter *c* for phenomenological convenience.

As mentioned above (once the cosmological constant fine-tuning is taken into account) the values of the brane potentials $\mathcal{V}^{\alpha}(\phi)$ and their derivatives can be traded by the values of the field $\phi = (\phi_0, \phi_1)$ on the UV and IR branes respectively. One can also write the warp factor, with the condition $A(\phi_0) = 0$, as

$$A(\phi) = B(\phi) - B(\phi_0), \qquad B(\phi) = \frac{1}{6ac} \left(\phi - \frac{e^{-a\phi}}{a}\right).$$
 (2.16)

We assume that the brane (potential) dynamics have fixed (ϕ_0, ϕ_1) , such as to solve the hierarchy problem, i.e. $A(\phi_1) \simeq 35$. This can be done for positive values of ϕ_1 , for which $B(\phi_1) \sim \phi_1$ and negative values of ϕ_0 such that $B(\phi_0) \sim -e^{-a\phi_0}$. In this way the value of ϕ_0 exhibits little sensitivity with respects to the value of ϕ_1 provided the latter is largish. This insensitivity is shown in figure 1 where we plot contour lines of constant $\phi_0 = (0, -2, -4, -8, -10)$ and $\phi_1 = 2$ ($\phi_1 = 5$) in the left (right) panel, after imposing the condition $A(\phi_1) = 35$. As we can see, the contour lines have little dependence upon the value of ϕ_1 . We plot then in figure 2 the function $\beta(\phi)$ for four different values of c = (0.5, 1, 1.5, 2). When using $\phi_1 = 5$, for a = 0.2 (left panel) the values of ϕ_0 fixed by the condition $A(\phi_1) = 35$ are $\phi_0 = (-4.8, -8.9, -11.4, -13.0)$, respectively, and for a = 0.8 (right panel) one has $\phi_0 = (-5.1, -6.0, -6.6, -6.9)$, respectively. These are the typical values of the parameters of the model that we are using throughout this work.

⁵Notice that the model with superpotential $W = 6k\left(1 + e^{\nu\phi/\sqrt{6}}\right)$ introduced in ref. [28] is a particular case of the superpotential (2.14) for $a = \nu/\sqrt{6}$ and c = 1.



Figure 1. Left panel: contour lines of $\phi_0(a, c, \phi_1 = 2)$ from the condition $A(\phi_1) = 35$. Right panel: contour lines of $\phi_0(a, c, \phi_1 = 5)$ from the condition $A(\phi_1) = 35$.



Figure 2. The function $-\beta(\phi)$ for c = 0.5 (dashed blue line), 1 (solid red line), 1.5 (dot-dashed green line) and 2 (dotted black line). We show in the left panel the result with a = 0.2, and in the right panel with a = 0.8. The vertical line indicates the position of the IR brane that we are considering throughout the paper, $\phi_1 = 5$, and the arrows stand for the positions of the UV brane, ϕ_0 , that allow to solve the hierarchy problem, $A(\phi_1) \simeq 35$. ϕ_0 depends on c: from right to left c = 0.5, 1, 1.5 and 2.

The inter-brane distance y_1 , as well as the location of the singularity at $y_s = y_1 + \Delta$ and the warp factor $A(y_1)$, are related to the values of the field ϕ_{α} at the branes. In fact we can use as coordinate the value of the field ϕ instead of the value of y. The change of coordinates is given by

$$\frac{dy(\phi)}{d\phi} = -\frac{6}{\beta(\phi)W(\phi)},$$
(2.17)



Figure 3. Left panel: contour lines of $A(\phi_1)/ky_1$ from the condition $A(\phi_1) = 35$ for $\phi_1 = 2$. Right panel: contour lines of $A(\phi_1)/ky_1$ from the condition $A(\phi_1) = 35$ for $\phi_1 = 5$.

or, imposing the condition on the IR singularity $y(\phi_s) \equiv y_s$, where $\phi_s \to \infty$

$$y(\phi) = y_s - z(\phi) ,$$

$$z(\phi) \equiv \frac{6}{-c\beta(\phi)W(\phi)} \left\{ \frac{c}{a} + \left(\frac{c}{a} - 1\right)_2 F_1 \left[1, 1, 1 + \frac{c}{a}, -e^{-a\phi} \right] \right\} ,$$

$$y_s = z(\phi_0) ,$$
(2.18)

where ${}_{2}F_{1}[a, b, c, z]$ is the hypergeometric function defined by

$${}_{2}F_{1}[a,b,c,z] = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_{k}b_{k}}{c_{k}} \frac{z^{k}}{k!}, \qquad m_{k} \equiv \Pi_{\ell=0}^{k}(m+\ell), \qquad (2.19)$$

and the last line in eq. (2.18) comes from the requirement $y_0 = y(\phi_0) = 0$. The IR brane is located at $y_1 = y(\phi_1)$ which is at a distance Δ from the singularity y_s . They are fixed as:

$$y_1 \equiv y_1(a, c, \phi_1) = z(\phi_0(a, c, \phi_1)) - z(\phi_1),$$

$$\Delta = z(\phi_1).$$
(2.20)

Contour lines of $A(\phi_1)/ky_1(a, c, \phi_1)$, are shown in the left (right) panel of figure 3 for $\phi_1 = 2$ ($\phi_1 = 5$). As we can see the larger the value of ϕ_1 the smaller the value of y_1 (and the larger the reduction of the volume). Because of that and the fact that ϕ_0 has little dependence on ϕ_1 , we will choose from here on the value $\phi_1 = 5$ and keep (a, c) as free parameters.

Once we have studied the properties of the background in the benchmark model, our next task is to compute the fluctuations around this background and the corresponding spectrum. This will be done in the next subsection.

2.2 Spectra and mass formulae

We will present in this section the basic formulae to compute the spectrum of the scalar, vector and tensor perturbations in the benchmark model. It is not intended to provide a detailed derivation and, when appropriate, we will refer the reader to existing references.

2.2.1 Scalars

In order to compute the scalar spectrum and in particular its lightest mode, which is known as the radion/dilaton, we have to consider a scalar perturbation of the background flow solution as [32, 33]

$$ds^{2} = e^{-2A(y) - 2F(x,y)} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + [1 + G(x,y)]^{2} dy^{2}$$

$$\Phi(x,y) = \phi(y) + \varphi(x,y)$$
(2.21)

where the three scalars F, G and φ are not independent functions but satisfy the relations

$$\varphi(x,y) = \varphi(y) \cdot \mathcal{R}(x), \qquad F(x,y) = F(y) \cdot \mathcal{R}(x)$$
$$\varphi(y) = 6 \frac{\dot{F}(y) - 2\dot{A}(y)F(y)}{\dot{\phi}(y)}, \qquad G(x,y) = 2F(x,y) \qquad (2.22)$$

where we indicate the mode expansion as: $A(y) \cdot B(x) \equiv \sum_{n} A^{(n)}(y) B^{(n)}(x)$.

Using the background EOM one can recast the bulk equation of motion and boundary condition for the excitation F as

$$\left(e^{2A}(\ddot{A})^{-1}[e^{-2A}F]\right) + \left(m^2 e^{2A}(\ddot{A})^{-1} - 2\right)F = 0$$
(2.23)

$$\left[m^{2}F + U_{\alpha}''[e^{-2A}F]^{\cdot}\right]\Big|_{y_{\alpha}} = 0.$$
(2.24)

We show in figure 4 (left panel) the dilaton mass $m_{\rm dil}$ obtained from a numerical solution of eq. (2.23) with the boundary conditions eq. (2.24). These results are not yet in physical units, and we find it convenient to normalize them by the factor $\rho \equiv ke^{-A(y_1)}$ which is related to the KK scale $m_{\rm KK}$, see e.g. [26]. An important property is that the value of all these curves is small for small values of a, and they tend to zero eventually in the limit $a \to 0$, so that we recover the expected result from an unperturbed AdS metric. These curves exhibit a maximum at around $a \simeq 0.6/c$, which implies the existence of a change of regime: the realization of the dilaton for $a \gtrsim 0.6/c$ is dominated by the β function, while for $a \lesssim 0.6/c$ it is dominated by the IR brane. We will call them *soft* and *hard dilaton* respectively. The soft realization of the dilaton happens when the β -function is small at the condensation scale and reach confinement fast enough. This is precisely the behavior of the β -function for large values of a, see figure 2. This will be explained in more detail in section 2.2.1.

We show in figure 4 (right panel) the dependence of the dilaton mass with the value of the IR brane potential. As it will be discussed in section 2.2.1, the (non fine-tuned) natural value corresponds to $U_1''(\phi_1) \sim W''(\phi_1)$. Note that this leads to a smaller value for the dilaton mass as compared to the simple choice $U''(\phi_1) \to +\infty$.⁶

⁶This is the choice adopted in e.g. ref. [28]. We have checked that we reproduce the results presented in that reference when considering the limit $U''(\phi_1) \to +\infty$, and for $a = \nu/\sqrt{6}$ and c = 1.



Figure 4. Left panel: mass of the dilaton as a function of the parameter a, normalized to ρ . We show the results for c = 0.5, 1, 1.5 and 2. We have used $\phi_1 = 5$, and have considered the values of the potential in the branes $U_0'' = W''(\phi_0)$ and $U_1'' = W''(\phi_1)$. Right panel: dilaton mass as a function of the IR brane potential. The natural value for U_1'' is $U_1'' \sim W''(\phi_1)$ as explained in section 2.2.1. In this plot we have used c = 1, a = 0.2 and $U_0'' = W''(\phi_0)$, and have considered $\phi_1 = 5$. In both plots we display as wide solid lines the result from a numerical solution of the equations of motion for scalar perturbations, eq. (2.23), with the boundary conditions eq. (2.24), and as narrow dashed lines the result from the mass formula, eq. (2.25).

Mass formulae and types of dilatons. It is possible to obtain a general mass formula for the lightest scalar mode — the dilaton. Details on how to obtain it are deferred to a separate article [34]. In presence of both UV and IR branes, and with full inclusion of the backreaction, the final mass formula reads

$$\frac{\rho^2}{m_{\rm dil}^2} \simeq \Pi_2 + \frac{k \,\Pi_0}{U_0'' \beta_0^2} + \frac{36 \,k^2}{U_1'' \beta_1^2 W_1} \,, \tag{2.25}$$

with

$$\Pi_{0} = k e^{-2A_{1}} \int_{0}^{y_{1}} dy \ e^{-2A} \beta^{2} ,$$

$$\Pi_{2} = k^{2} \int_{0}^{y_{1}} dy \ \frac{e^{4(A-A_{1})}}{\beta^{2}} \left(\frac{36}{W_{1}} + \int_{y}^{y_{1}} d\bar{y} e^{-2(A-A_{1})} \beta^{2}\right) .$$
(2.26)

This formula unifies those found in refs. [28] and [9] (it slightly differs from that presented in [10] in presence of the UV brane). It also recovers the expressions found in [1, 6, 7, 32] when the dominant term in the right-hand side comes from the IR brane.

The structure of this formula clearly reveals under what conditions a light dilaton emerges. Technically, this happens whenever the right-hand side is large, and one can distinguish three cases when this can be so: from the UV brane, from the IR brane or from somewhere in between. In the extreme cases where U'' = 0, it produces an exactly massless mode. This corresponds to the brane world models where the brane potentials are tuned to the bulk superpotential, for which it is well known that there are massless moduli corresponding to the positions of each brane (see e.g. [35, 36]). Without supersymmetry though, these are clearly tuned models. To have an idea of how large/small each term can be, note that the structure of the effective potential on each brane is a sum of two terms $(U_{\rm UV} \equiv \mathcal{V}_{\rm UV} - W \text{ and } U_{\rm IR} \equiv \mathcal{V}_{\rm IR} + W)$. Therefore a clear notion of tuning emerges: when there is a cancellation between the two terms. And a clear notion of naturalness: when $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha}(\phi)$ is comparable to $W(\phi)$. The same goes for U_{α} , and for their derivatives, of course. Hence the natural value for U''_{α} is

$$U_{\alpha}'' \sim W''|_{\phi_{\alpha}} \,. \tag{2.27}$$

The right panel of figure 4 confirms this picture. If one tunes the brane potentials \mathcal{V}_{α} so that U''_{α} is smaller than the criterion (2.27) then the scalar mode is artificially light. Clearly, because the UV and IR contributions carry warp factors, realizing a light scalar by tuning requires a great deal of tuning on the branes. However without any tuning the UV contribution is generically subdominant ($A_0 \equiv 0$) to the others. From now on, we will simply ignore in the discussion the UV brane contribution.

On the other hand, the IR brane contribution can be large without tuning \mathcal{V}_{IR} , provided β is small at the IR brane location, so that in that case the dilaton is incarnated by the location of the IR brane. This is the realization that has been discussed in refs. [6, 7].⁷ In the CFT picture, it is interpreted as the condensation threshold of another CFT operator \mathcal{O}' in a sudden limit where $\text{Dim}(\mathcal{O}')$ is arbitrarily large. For this reason, we shall refer to this realization as a *hard dilaton*. In the extra dimension literature this dilaton is often called the radion.

The final case to realize a light dilaton is like in ref. [9] which is when Π_2 is large. The conditions for which this can happen were analyzed in [9] and require: *i*) that β is large (of order 1) at the deep IR, and; *ii*) that it displays a sharp increase just before getting large. Let us call the scale at which this happens Λ_{IR} . In the presently discussed models, $\Lambda_{IR} \sim m_{KK}$. Under conditions i) and ii), the integral scales like $\Pi_2^{-1} \sim \Lambda_{IR}^2 \beta_{IR}^{(-)}$ with $\beta_{IR}^{(-)}$ the (small) value of β at Λ_{IR} and $m_{dil}^2 \sim \beta_{IR}^{(-)} \Lambda_{IR}^2$. In that case, the dilaton does not correspond to the IR brane location but rather the location of the jump in $\beta(\phi)$, which can be identified as the condensation threshold of the CFT operator dual to ϕ . For these reasons, we shall refer to this realizations as a *soft dilaton*.

Interestingly enough, the dilaton seems to be incarnated by whichever is the largest condensate — which makes sense from the CFT point of view. Indeed, if Π_2 is large the presence of the IR brane does not alter much the picture if it is located on the large β region and \mathcal{V}_{IR} is not tuned. Conversely, if the IR brane is stabilized in the region where β is small, then the piece of the geometry corresponding to the \mathcal{O} condensation threshold is cut away and the Π_2 term cannot be large.

2.2.2 Vectors and tensors

Vectors. In the following we will refer to the spectrum of vector perturbations as KK gauge bosons in the 5D warped model. The gauge bosons are computed from the 5D action

⁷In this dilaton incarnate, its mass scales like $m_{\rm dil}^2 \sim \beta_{\rm IR}^2 \Lambda_{\rm IR}^2$ because the IR brane potential is implicitly adjusted to have the special property that the potential vanishes at the minimum.



Figure 5. Left panel: KK gauge boson masses as a function of the parameter *a*. Right panel: KK graviton masses as a function of *a*. In these figures we have plotted the results for c = 0.5, 1, 1.5 and 2, and have considered $\phi_1 = 5$. We display as wide (solid) lines the results from a numerical computation of the equations of motion, eqs. (2.30) and (2.32), and as narrow (dashed) lines the result from the mass formulae, eqs. (2.33) and (2.34).

of the gauge field V_M

$$S = -\frac{1}{4} \int d^5 x \sqrt{-g} F_{MN} F^{MN} , \qquad (2.28)$$

where F_{MN} is the 5D field strength of the bulk gauge boson A_M . In order to compute the mass of massive KK modes we can safely neglect electroweak breaking (as we are assuming the latter will modify the mass of KK modes by a tiny amount) and will make no distinction between KK modes of photons and gluons, and KK modes of W and Z gauge bosons.

One can make the KK-mode expansion ansatz

$$A_{\mu}(x,y) = f_A(y) \cdot A_{\mu}(x) / \sqrt{y_1}$$
(2.29)

by which the profiles f_A , normalized as $\int_0^{y_1} f_A^2(y) dy = y_1$, and with Neumann boundary conditions $\dot{f}_A(y_\alpha) = 0$, satisfy the equations of motion (see e.g. ref. [37] for details on the derivation)

$$m_A^2 f_A + \left(e^{-2A} \dot{f}_A \right) = 0.$$
 (2.30)

We show in figure 5 (left panel) the result of the mass of the lightest (non-zero) KK gauge boson, $m_{\rm KK}$, as a function of the parameter a. Contrary to the dilaton mass, the KK gauge mode tends to a finite value in the limit $a \to 0$, in particular $m_{\rm KK}/\rho \simeq 2.45 \times 2^c$. This is in agreement with the expectations from AdS.⁸

Tensors. Finally the spectrum of tensor perturbations, which we refer in the following as KK modes of the graviton, can be computed by considering the transverse traceless fluctuations of the metric

$$ds^{2} = dy^{2} + e^{-2A} \left(\eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}(x, y)\right) dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} .$$
(2.31)

⁸Note that in the limit $a \to 0$ the superpotential, eq. (2.14), tends to the constant value $W(\phi) = 6k \times 2^c$. There is a factor 2^c affecting the cosmological constant, and hence it affects also the KK modes in this limit.

Using the ansatz $h_{\mu\nu}(x,y) = h_{\mu\nu}(x) \cdot \vartheta(y)$ one can obtain the equation of motion for the fluctuations $\vartheta(y)$, which is given by

$$\ddot{\vartheta} - 4\dot{A}\dot{\vartheta} + e^{2A}m^2\vartheta = 0, \qquad (2.32)$$

supplemented with Neumann boundary conditions $\dot{\vartheta}(y_{\alpha}) = 0$ in the UV/IR branes. See e.g. ref. [26] for further details. The mass of the lighest (non-zero) KK graviton mode, $m_{\rm G}$, as a function of the parameter a is displayed in figure 5 (right panel). The KK graviton masses have a similar behavior as the KK gauge masses. However, we find that the former are heavier than the latter, in particular they tend to the value $m_{\rm G}/\rho \simeq 3.83 \times 2^c$ in the limit $a \to 0$. A heavier value for the graviton mass with respect to the KK gauge mass was also found in ref. [26].

Mass formulae. Let us finally mention that, similarly as for the dilaton, it is possible to obtain mass formulae for the first KK gauge boson and graviton in presence of both UV and IR branes, and with full inclusion of the backreaction. The formulae read

$$\frac{\rho^2}{m_{\rm KK}^2} \simeq \frac{k^2 \int_0^{y_1} dy \int_y^{y_1} dy' e^{2(A-A_1)} \int_{y'}^{y_1} dy''}{\int_0^{y_1} dy}, \qquad (2.33)$$

and

$$\frac{\rho^2}{m_{\rm G}^2} \simeq \frac{k^2 \int_0^{y_1} dy e^{-2A} \int_y^{y_1} dy' e^{4(A-A_1)} \int_{y'}^{y_1} dy'' e^{-2(A-A_1)}}{\int_0^{y_1} dy e^{-2A}}, \qquad (2.34)$$

for the KK gauge and graviton modes, respectively. The analytical approach that allows to obtain these mass formulae predicts, in addition to these non-zero modes, the existence of massless modes in both cases: $m_{\rm KK}^2 = 0$ (in the absence of electroweak symmetry breaking) and $m_{\rm G}^2 = 0$ (for the graviton zero mode). We show in figure 5 the behavior of the first non-zero KK gauge and graviton modes, computed with these mass formulae. It is remarkable that the mass formulae reproduce the numerical evaluation of the equations of motion with an accuracy of 20% for these modes which are not particularly light.

3 Electroweak breaking

We will now introduce the electroweak sector in the theory. We shall consider a 5D version of the Standard Model propagating in the 5D space described above. There are several reasons to do so, rather than assuming that the SM is localized on the IR brane. The first one has to do with flavor — the peculiar flavor structure of the SM then boils down to how different flavor of fermions are localized in the extra dimension. Another reason has to do with the dilaton properties, especially for the *soft* dilaton case, which is perhaps the one that admits more variability. In the soft case, the dilaton wave function is delocalized in the extra dimension. If this has to have a chance to act as a Higgs impostor, then the SM matter fields better be also in the bulk. Finally, as we will see, a Higgs slightly delocalized from the IR brane is highly favored by EWPT.

Let us emphasize that we also include a 5D Higgs field in the bulk as the source of EW breaking. This, however, does not necessarily mean that we have a SM Higgs in the

light spectrum. The 5D Higgs parameters could be such that there is no light 'zero' mode in this 5D field, similarly to Higgsless models, or simply that the Higgs zero mode is heavy enough. In particular for the dilaton impostor application, we will assume this kind of situation.

Thus, we define the 5D SU(2)_L × U(1)_Y gauge bosons as $W_M^i(x, y)$, $B_M(x, y)$, where i = 1, 2, 3 and $M = (\mu, 5)$, and the 5D SM Higgs as

$$H(x,y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{i\chi(x,y)} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ h(y) + \xi(x,y) \end{pmatrix},$$
 (3.1)

where the matrix $\chi(x, y)$ contains the three 5D SM Goldstone fields $\vec{\chi}(x, y)$. The Higgs background h(y) as well as the metric A(y) will be considered for the moment as arbitrary functions. Thus the 5D action for the gauge fields and the Higgs field H is written as

$$S_5 = \int d^4x dy \sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{1}{4} \vec{W}_{MN}^2 - \frac{1}{4} B_{MN}^2 - |D_M H|^2 - V(H) \right)$$
(3.2)

where V(H) is the 5D Higgs potential.

Electroweak symmetry breaking will be triggered on the IR brane. We choose the Higgs dependent bulk and brane potentials as

$$V(H) = M^{2}(\phi)|H|^{2}, \qquad \mathcal{V}^{0}(H) = M_{0}|H|^{2}, \qquad \mathcal{V}^{1}(H) = -M_{1}|H|^{2} + \gamma|H|^{4}.$$
(3.3)

The background Higgs field is then determined from the Higgs bulk potential $V(h) = \frac{1}{2}M^2(\phi)h^2$ as

$$\ddot{h}(y) - 4\dot{A}\dot{h}(y) - M^2(\phi)h(y) = 0, \qquad \dot{h}(y_\alpha) = \left.\frac{\partial\mathcal{V}^\alpha}{\partial h}\right|_{y_\alpha}.$$
(3.4)

As for the Higgs mass bulk term we will take [28]

$$M^{2}(\phi) = \alpha k \left[\alpha k - \frac{2}{3} W(\phi) \right]$$
(3.5)

where the parameter α is constrained by the hierarchy problem.⁹ The choice (3.5) ensures that one linearly independent solution to eq. (3.4) is given by $\exp(\alpha ky)$. We can then write the general solution to (3.4) as

$$h(\phi) = h(\phi_0) e^{\alpha k y(\phi)} \left[1 + (M_0/k - \alpha) Q(\phi) \right], \qquad Q(\phi) = \int_{\phi_0}^{\phi} \left[e^{4A(\bar{\phi}) - 2\alpha k y(\bar{\phi})} \middle/ W'(\bar{\phi}) \right] d\bar{\phi}.$$
(3.6)

To avoid the fine-tuning required in $M_0/k - \alpha$ to keep the exponential solution we must generically require the function $Q(\phi) \leq \mathcal{O}(1)$. As the integrand in $Q(\phi)$ is a monotonically increasing function of ϕ , a sufficient condition is that

$$\alpha = 2A(y_1)/y_1. (3.7)$$

⁹Notice that for the AdS metric this requires $\alpha > 2$.

The value of the parameter α can be easily read off from the right panel of figure 3 where we plot contour lines of $\alpha/2$ in the plane (a, c). We see that in all cases $\alpha > 2$. There is a simple holographic interpretation as the dimension of the Higgs condensate operator \mathcal{O}_H depends on the coordinate value y, or equivalently on the value of the field ϕ , see ref. [28].

The formalism of electroweak breaking by the bulk Higgs was widely described in ref. [28]. The profiles for the massive zero modes of $A_{\mu}(x, y)$ (A = W, Z) are given by $f_A(y)$ as in eq. (2.29) and satisfy the equation of motion:

$$m_A^2 f_A + \left(e^{-2A} \dot{f}_A \right) - M_A^2 f_A = 0$$
(3.8)

where¹⁰

$$M_W(y) = \frac{g_5}{2}h(y)e^{-A(y)}, \qquad M_Z(y) = \frac{1}{c_W}M_W(y).$$
(3.9)

In the 4D theory the physical degrees of freedom are the gauge fields $W_{\mu}(x)^{\pm}$, $Z_{\mu}(x)$, the Goldstone bosons $G_W^{\pm}(x)$, $G_Z(x)$, and gauge invariant scalars $K_W^{\pm}(x)$, $K_Z(x)$ which are normally much heavier than the gauge bosons and can thus be considered as decoupled from the low energy effective theory. In case the lightest mode after electroweak breaking is separated by a gap from the KK spectrum we can write for the zero modes the approximations [28]

$$m_A^2 \simeq \frac{1}{y_1} \int_0^{y_1} M_A^2(y) dy ,$$

$$f_A'(y) \simeq m_A^2 y_1 e^{2A(y)} \left(\Omega(y) - \frac{y}{y_1} \right) , \qquad (3.10)$$

where

$$\Omega(y) = \frac{\omega(y)}{\omega(y_1)}, \qquad \omega(y) = \int_0^y h^2(\bar{y}) e^{-2A(\bar{y})} d\bar{y}.$$
(3.11)

To compare the model predictions with electroweak precision tests (EWPT) a convenient parametrization is using the (S, T, U) variables in ref. [38]. They can be given the general expressions [28]

$$\alpha T = s_W^2 \frac{m_Z^2}{\rho^2} k^2 y(\phi_1) \int_{\phi_0}^{\phi_1} \left\{ \left[1 - \Omega(\phi) \right]^2 e^{2A(\phi) - 2A(\phi_1)} \middle/ W'(\phi) \right\} d\phi$$

$$\alpha S = 8c_W^2 s_W^2 \frac{m_Z^2}{\rho^2} k^2 y(\phi_1) \int_{\phi_0}^{\phi_1} \left\{ \left(1 - \frac{y(\phi)}{y(\phi_1)} \right) \left[1 - \Omega(\phi) \right] e^{2A(\phi) - 2A(\phi_1)} \middle/ W'(\phi) \right\} d\phi$$

$$\alpha U \simeq 0$$
(3.12)

where $\rho = k e^{-A(y_1)}$.

We have compared our benchmark class of models in eq. (2.14) with EWPT using the fitted values for the S and T parameters as [39]:

$$T = 0.05 \pm 0.07, \qquad S = 0.00 \pm 0.08 \qquad (90\% \text{ correlation})$$
(3.13)

¹⁰The 5D gauge coupling g_5 is related to the 4D one g by $g_5 = g\sqrt{y_1}$.



Figure 6. Bounds on KK masses (blue solid lines) as functions of a for different values of c from electroweak observables. The corresponding dilaton masses are in dashed (red) lines. To guide the eye we have drawn horizontal dashed lines corresponding to 125 GeV (lower dashed) and 2 TeV (upper dashed).

and study compatibility with experimental data for values $m_{\rm KK} \leq 10 \,{\rm TeV}$ and $m_{\rm dil} \leq 1.2 \,{\rm TeV}$. The results are summarized in figure 6 where we plot the lower bounds on the first KK mode gauge mass (solid blue curve) and the dilaton mass (dashed red curve) as a function of the *a* parameter for the cases c = 0.5 (upper left panel), c = 1 (upper right panel), c = 1.5 (lower left panel) and c = 2 (lower right panel). We also show for the sake of reference the horizontal lines corresponding to $m_{\rm KK} = 2 \,{\rm TeV}$ (dashed blue line) and to $m_{\rm dil} = 125 \,{\rm GeV}$ (dashed orange line).

In the limit of large values of a we recover the Randall-Sundrum (RS) [40] case with $\alpha = 2$ as can be shown in figure 3. So for large values of a we essentially recover the bounds we would have obtained for the RS case with a bulk Higgs and $\alpha = 2$. In the limit $a \to 0$ we see that an equivalent to the RS case is found where $k \to 2^c k$ which implies that $\alpha \to 2^{c+1} \alpha$ and thus a Higgs more localized toward the IR brane than in RS and consequently bounds on KK masses stronger, as we can clearly see from the plots in figure 6. As the theories tend to RS (with different values of α) in both limits of a large and small, implying large values of m_{KK} , $\mathcal{O}(10)$ TeV, there is a minimum in between for a range of values of the parameter a where the bound on m_{KK} is in the (few) TeV region. This interval and the minimum of m_{KK} scales like $\sim 1/c$ and thus moves towards smaller values of a for larger values of c. On the other hand the dilaton mass scales with a so that a lighter dilaton is

favored for smaller values of the parameter a. In this way moving towards larger values of c (e.g. c = 2) favors finding a region in a such that both $m_{\text{KK}} = \mathcal{O}(\text{TeV})$ and $m_{\text{dil}} \leq \mathcal{O}(100)$ GeV, as we can see in the lower right panel of figure 6.

4 Dilaton couplings in the minimal model

There are many studies in the literature on the coupling of the radion and KK tower of scalar modes to SM matter fields, see e.g. [32, 33]. It was originally assumed that the matter fields were localized in the IR brane. While this may be considered a priori a reasonable assumption, the situation nowadays is not so clear. There are some recent works that explore the possibility of localizing the matter fields in the bulk, or even in the UV brane, see e.g. refs. [45, 46]. In this work, and motivated mainly by EWPT, we are assuming that the matter and Higgs fields are in the bulk. We study in this section the coupling of the radion with gauge bosons and fermions.

The scalar perturbation of the background flow solution writes as in eq. (2.21). To study the coupling of the radion to matter, one has to firstly find the canonically normalized radion. For that we have to compute the normalization of its kinetic term in the action. If the fluctuation decomposes as $F(x, y) = F(y)\mathcal{R}(x)$, where F(x, y) is dimensionless, the kinetic part of the Lagrangian density in eq. (2.2) then reads as

$$M^3 \int_0^{y_1} dy \sqrt{-g} \left(R - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_M \phi)^2 \right) \supset M^3 (\partial_\mu \mathcal{R})^2 X_F$$
(4.1)

with

$$X_F \equiv \int_0^{y_1} dy \left[6 + \frac{36^2}{2\beta^2 W^2} \left(\frac{\dot{F}}{F} - 2\dot{A} \right)^2 \right] e^{-2A(y)} F^2(y) \,. \tag{4.2}$$

The second term inside the bracket in this equation follows from the term proportional to $(\partial_M \phi)^2$ in the action.¹¹ If we denote the canonically normalized radion field as r(x) with kinetic term $\frac{1}{2}(\partial_\mu r)^2$, then one finds

$$r(x) = M_{\rm Pl} \left(\frac{X_F}{\int_0^{y_1} dy \, e^{-2A(y)}}\right)^{1/2} \mathcal{R}(x) \,, \tag{4.3}$$

where $M_{\rm Pl} = 2.4 \times 10^{18} \,\text{GeV}$ and we have made use of eq. (2.3).

4.1 Coupling to gauge bosons

We will compare the dilaton coupling with massless and massive gauge bosons, and fermions, with the SM Higgs coupling given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm SM} \supset \frac{\alpha_{EM}}{8\pi} (b_1 + b_{1/2}) \frac{h_{\rm SM}}{v} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{h_{\rm SM}}{v} \left(2m_W^2 W_\mu W^\mu + m_Z^2 Z_\mu Z^\mu + m_f \bar{f} f \right) , \quad (4.4)$$

¹¹This term turns out to be a small correction to the first term in eq. (4.2) for small values of the dilaton mass. In fact, the wave function of a massless mode $m^2 \simeq 0$ is $F_0(y) \simeq e^{2A(y)}$, and in this case this term is vanishing.

where $b_1 = -7$, $b_{1/2} = (4/3)^2$, $F_{\mu\nu}$ is the photon field strength and v = 246 GeV. Now in order to compute the coupling of the dilaton with matter we will expand the 5D action (3.2) to linear order in the perturbations in eq. (2.21). We will make extensive use of the formalism developed in ref. [28] which we have summarized in appendix A. In case the Higgs is in the bulk (as we are assuming in this paper) we can compute the coupling of the dilaton to the photon, massive gauge fields (W_{μ} and Z_{μ}) and fermions f normalized with respect to the SM Higgs couplings as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm rad} = \frac{r(x)}{v} \left\{ \frac{\alpha_{EM}}{8\pi} (b_1 + b_{1/2}) c_{\gamma} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - 2c_W m_W^2 W_{\mu} W^{\mu} - c_Z m_Z^2 Z_{\mu} Z^{\mu} - c_f m_f \bar{f} f \right\}$$
(4.5)

where of course the case $c_{\gamma} = c_W = c_Z = c_f = 1$ corresponds to the SM Higgs coupling.

The linearized 5D action for gauge bosons reads as

$$\delta_F S_5 = \int d^4 x dy F(x,y) \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - 2e^{-2A} \left[(Z_{\mu5})^2 + 2|W_{\mu5}|^2 \right] + \frac{2}{y_1} e^{-2A} \left[M_Z^2(y) \eta_Z^2(y) K_Z^2(x) + 2M_W^2(y) |\eta_W(y)|^2 |K_W(x)|^2 \right] \right\}$$
(4.6)

where Z_{MN} and W_{MN} refer to the 5D field strengths of Z_M and W_M , respectively, and the last line refers to mass terms for pseudoscalars which the dilaton also couples to. Notice that the third term $|D_{\mu}H|^2$ in the action (3.2) does not contribute to the dilaton coupling to matter as there is an accidental cancellation.¹² A straightforward calculation gives the 4D Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{rad-}VV} = -\mathcal{R}(x) \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu}^2(x) \frac{\int_0^{y_1} F(y)}{y_1} - 2y_1 \int_0^{y_1} dy \, F(y) e^{2A(y)} \left(\Omega - \frac{y}{y_1}\right)^2 \\ \cdot \mathcal{R}(x) \left[m_Z^2 (\partial_\mu G_Z(x) - m_Z Z_\mu(x))^2 + 2m_W^2 |\partial_\mu G_W(x) - m_W W_\mu(x)|^2 \right]$$
(4.7)

where use has been made of the approximation eq. (3.10).

Equation (4.7) provides a small coupling of the radion field to electroweak gauge bosons, as the first term is volume suppressed¹³ and the second term has (with respect to the case where the Higgs is localized on the IR brane) an extra suppression of m_V^2/ρ^2 . We can then write c_{γ} and c_V (V = W, Z) as

$$c_{\gamma} = -\frac{4\pi}{\alpha_{EM}(b_1 + b_{1/2})} \frac{v}{M_{\rm Pl}} \frac{\int dy F}{y_1} \left(\frac{\int dy \, e^{-2A}}{X_F}\right)^{1/2},$$

$$c_V = 2 \frac{v \, m_V^2}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left(\frac{\int dy \, e^{-2A}}{X_F}\right)^{1/2} y_1 \int dy \, F e^{2A} \left(\Omega - \frac{y}{y_1}\right)^2,$$
 (4.8)

¹²In case the Higgs is localized in the IR brane the localized Higgs kinetic term does provide the usually considered coupling of the radion to the gauge boson masses. As we are considering here the Higgs propagating in the bulk of the fifth dimension even if such coupling can be generated by radiative corrections it should be suppressed by loop factors and we are not considering it here.

¹³A suppression ~ 10–35 depending on the values of the parameters a and c.



Figure 7. Left panel: plot of c_Z as a function of a for c = 1. Right panel: contour lines for constant values of c_{γ} .

or using the massless radion approximation $F = e^{2A}$

$$c_{\gamma} = -\frac{4\pi}{\alpha_{EM}\sqrt{6}(b_1 + b_{1/2})} \frac{v}{e^{-A_1}M_{\rm Pl}} \left(k^2 \int dy \, e^{-2A} \int dy \, e^{2A-2A_1}\right)^{1/2} \frac{1}{ky_1},$$

$$c_V = \frac{2 \, v \, m_V^2}{\sqrt{6}e^{-A_1}M_{\rm Pl}\rho^2} \left(\frac{\int dy \, e^{-2A}}{\int dy \, e^{2A-2A_1}}\right)^{1/2} ky_1 \int_0^{ky_1} dy \, e^{4A-4A_1} \left(\Omega - \frac{ky}{ky_1}\right)^2 d(ky). \quad (4.9)$$

We plot in the left panel of figure 7 the value of c_Z as a function of a for c = 1 (left panel) after imposing the constraints from EWPT of section 3. In the right panel of figure 7 we plot contour lines of constant c_{γ} in the plane (a, c). We discuss in section 4.4 what are the implications of these results.

4.2 Coupling to fermions

The couplings of the radion with the SM fermions is model dependent and should depend on the 5D Dirac masses which determine the localization of the different fermions. The latter were fixed in ref. [47] to $M_{f_{L,R}}(y) = \mp c_{L,R}W(\phi)$ where the upper (lower) sign corresponds to the left (right) component. With this convention light (heavy) fermions are localized near the UV (IR) brane and have $c_{L,R} > 1/2$ ($c_{L,R} < 1/2$). Using appropriate boundary conditions one can have for every 5D Dirac fermion one massless zero mode corresponding to a given chirality,

$$\psi_{L,R}^{(0)}(y,x) = \frac{e^{(2-c_{L,R})A(y)}}{\left(\int dy \, e^{A(1-2c_{L,R})}\right)^{1/2}} \psi_{L,R}(x) \tag{4.10}$$

and null wave function for the opposite chirality $(\psi_{R,L}^{(0)}(y) \equiv 0)$. The effective 4D fermion Lagrangian for the radion interaction with fermion zero modes is then written as:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{rad-}ff} = -3m_f \bar{\psi}_L(x) \psi_R(x) \mathcal{R}(x) \frac{\int dy \, e^{\alpha y - (c_L + c_R)A} F(y)}{\int dy \, e^{\alpha y - (c_L + c_R)A}} \tag{4.11}$$



Figure 8. Contour lines of c_f for the case c = 1 in the plane $(a, c_L + c_R)$. Note that the coupling to fermions c_f is between $10^{-1}-10^{-2}$ in all cases.

and correspondingly the normalized coupling c_f is given by

$$c_f = 3 \frac{v}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left(\frac{\int dy \, e^{-2A}}{X_F} \right)^{1/2} \frac{\int dy \, e^{\alpha y - (c_L + c_R)A} F(y)}{\int dy \, e^{\alpha y - (c_L + c_R)A}} \,. \tag{4.12}$$

We show in figure 8 how this coupling depends on the model parameters.

Of course when we build a complete theory of flavor by different localization in the bulk (Dirac masses) of different SM (5D) fermions we have to worry not only at oblique (universal) observables but also at non-oblique ones, as e.g. R_b , as well as at FCNC and CP violating operators. This was done for the benchmark model with c = 1 in ref. [47] where it was proven that the lower bound on $m_{\rm KK}$ increases from $\mathcal{O}(\text{TeV})$ to around $\geq 3 \text{ TeV}$ at least. As working out a complete theory of flavor is largely beyond the scope of this paper we will disregard possible bounds on non-universal and flavor observables just keeping in mind that in a more realistic theory the latter issue should be confronted with experimental data.

4.3 Radion-Higgs mixing

In theories where the Higgs propagates in the bulk, there is an extra effect by which the radion (a bulk field) mixes with the Higgs. In fact we have seen in the previous section that there is no radion coupling with the Higgs kinetic term $-|D_{\mu}H|^2$ as there was an accidental cancellation. However the radion does couple to the terms in the action $-|D_5H|^2 - V(H)$, which yields a coupling of the radion with the Higgs field and in particular a mixing

between the radion and the Higgs as $\mathcal{L}_{rH} = -\mu^2 r(x)\mathcal{H}(x) + \ldots$ where r(x) and $\mathcal{H}(x)$ are the canonically normalized radion and Higgs fields. A straightforward calculation yields the result

$$|\mu^{2}| = \rho^{2} \left(\frac{2\int e^{-2A}}{3\int e^{2(A-A_{1})}}\right)^{1/2} \frac{v}{e^{-A_{1}}M_{P}} \frac{\int e^{-2A+2\alpha ky}(3\alpha^{2}+M^{2}/k^{2})}{\int e^{-2A+2\alpha ky}}$$
(4.13)

where we are considering the light dilaton approximation $F(x, y) = e^{2A(y)} \mathcal{R}(x)$.

As a consequence of the mixing in eq. (4.13) the radion and Higgs states are rotated by an angle β . The two mass eigenstates are projected to the radion r(x) and Higgs $\mathcal{H}(x)$ with coefficients $\sin\beta$ and $\cos\beta$ respectively. For small mixing (as we will assume) the Higgs-like eigenstate will couple with SM fields XX through $\mathcal{H}(x)$ with coupling $g_{HXX} =$ $\cos \beta g_{HXX}^{\rm SM}$ so that the mixing with the radion generates a shift in the coupling $\delta g_{HXX} =$ $(1-\cos\beta)g_{HXX}^{\rm SM}$, which in the small mixing angle approximation can be written as $\delta g_{HXX} \simeq$ $\frac{1}{2}\sin^2\beta g_{HXX}^{\rm SM}$. Present data from LHC provide limits on the Higgs couplings which can be taken as $\delta g_{HXX}/g_{HXX}^{\text{SM}} \lesssim 0.1$. The values of $\delta g_{HXX}/g_{HXX}^{\text{SM}}$ stemming from the radion-Higgs mixing are shown in figure 9 as a function of the parameter a for different values of c = 0.5 (blue dotted), 1 (red dashed), 1.5 (orange solid) and 2 (green dot-dashed). The grey solid line indicates the upper bound $\delta g_{HXX}/g_{HXX}^{SM} = 0.1$. It translates into lower bounds on the parameter a which depend on the value of c. In particular $a \gtrsim 0.4$ for $c = 0.5, a \gtrsim 0.25$ for c = 1 while a is essentially unbounded for the cases with c = 1.5and c = 2. The sharp peaks which appear in the latter cases for isolated values of a arise from a resonance effect when $m_{\rm dil} = m_H = 125 \,{\rm GeV}$. There is also a radion-Higgs mixing from the brane localized potentials $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha}(\phi)$ but its value is negligibly small and will not be considered in this paper. From here on we will assume we are in a region of the parameter space where the mixing is negligible.

A closely related effect provides the coupling of the radion with a couple of Higgs fields. We will define the 4D effective Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{rhh} = -g_{rhh} v \, r(x) \mathcal{H}(x) \mathcal{H}(x) \tag{4.14}$$

where we have introduced the dimensionless coupling g_{rhh} . The coupling g_{rhh} should be especially relevant for the region of not so small radion masses such that $m_{dil} > 2m_h$ in such a way that the channel $r \to hh$ opens up for all phenomenological purposes. This applies in particular to the case of a 750 GeV radion which could be a candidate to the recent excess found by the ATLAS and CMS Collaborations at the LHC and which will be the subject of section 5. A straightforward calculation, closely related to that providing the mixing in eq. (4.13), yields

$$g_{rhh} \simeq \frac{\mu^2}{2v^2} \tag{4.15}$$

up to terms of $\mathcal{O}(m_H/m_{\rm KK})^2$, and where the parameter μ^2 is given in eq. (4.13). A plot of the coupling g_{rhh} as a function of *a* for different values of *c* (*c* = 1, 1.5, 2) is exhibited in the left panel of figure 10. A comparison between figure 9 and the left panel of figure 10 shows that there is a wide region in the parameter space where the mixing between the



Figure 9. The value of $\delta g_{HXX}/g_{HXX}^{SM}$ generated from the radion-Higgs mixing as a function of the parameter *a* for different values of c = 0.5 (blue dotted), 1 (red dashed), 1.5 (orange solid) and 2 (green dot-dashed).

radion and the Higgs is tiny and the coupling g_{rhh} is perturbative. In particular for values of the parameter *a* such that the radion mass is ~ 750 GeV, i.e. $a \sim 0.3$ –0.4 we can see from figure 9 and the left panel of figure 10 that the radion-Higgs mixing is negligible while the couplings $g_{rhh} < 10^{-1}$, a necessary condition in view of bounds on *hh* cross-section. For instance for the extreme value of *c* considered, c = 2, the radion-Higgs mixing is essentially zero while $g_{rah} \sim 10^{-3}$ by which the channel $r \to hh$ is very suppressed.

A related effect, which (unlike the previous effect) is relevant for the case of very light radion is the coupling of one Higgs with two radion fields which we define by the 4D effective Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{hrr} = -g_{hrr} v \mathcal{H}(x) r(x) r(x)$$
(4.16)

where we have defined the dimensionless coupling g_{hrr} . The coupling g_{hrr} is especially relevant when $m_{dil} < m_h/2$ and the channel $h \to rr$ opens up and contributes to the invisible Higgs width. The coupling g_{hrr} is easily computed by expanding the 5D action (3.2) to quadratic order in the radion excitation F(x, y) which appears in the metric, eq. (2.21). The result is given by

$$g_{hrr} = \rho^2 \frac{10 \int e^{-2A}}{3 \int e^{2(A-A_1)}} \frac{1}{(e^{-A_1}M_P)^2} \frac{\alpha^2 \int e^{2\alpha ky}}{\int e^{-2(A-A_1)+2\alpha ky}}.$$
(4.17)

Where we are also using the approximation $F(x, y) = e^{2A}\mathcal{R}(x)$. The plot of g_{hrr} as a function of a for different values of c (c = 1, 1.5, 2) is shown in the right panel of figure 10 where we see that the coupling is perturbative $g_{hrr} < 0.1$ in a wide region of the parameter space where the radion has very little mixing with the Higgs. Moreover, from the plots of figure 9 we see that the channel $h \to rr$ opens up in the region where g_{hrr} can be very small. For instance in the extreme case where c = 2, the relevant region of the parameter



Figure 10. Left panel: plot of $|g_{rhh}|$ as a function of *a*. Right panel: plot of g_{hrr} as a function of *a*. The line styles follow the same pattern as in figure 9.

a is $a \simeq 0.1-0.2$ where the coupling g_{hrr} can be as small as 10^{-4} and thus easily satisfying the experimental bounds on the Higgs invisible width $\Gamma(h \to inv)$ from the ATLAS (CMS) Collaboration [39]

$$\frac{\sigma \times BR(h \to inv)}{\sigma_{\rm SM}} < 0.65 \ (0.54) \ @ 95\% \ CL.$$
(4.18)

Finally we would like to comment that a bulk term as

$$\Delta S_5 = \xi \int d^5 x \sqrt{-g} R_5 |H|^2 \,, \tag{4.19}$$

where R_5 is the 5D Ricci scalar, is certainly permitted by all symmetries [48]. This term has been widely considered in the literature [32, 49], mainly for the case of an IR localized Higgs in which case it generates a kinetic mixing between the radion and the Higgs fields. In our case of a bulk Higgs it will generate both ξ -dependent kinetic and mass mixings, on top of extra corrections to the couplings g_{rhh} and g_{hrr} above considered which will modify the previous analyses. We have considered in this paper $\xi = 0$, or in fact that ξ is small enough to not modify the previous results. A full analysis considering the ξ dependence of the different couplings would provide upper bounds on ξ which would be dependent on the rest of model parameters (i.e. c and a). Such an analysis is beyond the scope of the present paper and is postponed for future work.

4.4 Standard Model plus a light dilaton

The above results show that the numerical values of c_V and c_f are $\ll 1$ in the 'minimal' model where the 5D SM fields couple minimally to the 5D metric as in (3.2). This has two implications: first of all, possibilities like a Higgs impostor cannot be covered by the present model. Second of all and for the same reason, in models with a light dilaton *in addition* to the full SM (Higgs included), the dilaton is quite weakly coupled. In particular, the Higgs phenomenology (Higgs contribution to the unitarization of the $V_L V_L$ elastic and inelastic scattering, the Higgs strengths, etc.) will be affected by an $\mathcal{O}(10^{-4})$ effect. The tiny deviations with respect to the SM predictions would be unobservable at the LHC.



Figure 11. Contour lines of constant $\Lambda_{\gamma} = \Lambda_G$ in TeV.

5 The diphoton excess

As the radion couples to photons and gluons by dimension five operators as in

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{rad-}VV} = -\frac{1}{2y_1} \mathcal{R}(x) (F_{\mu\nu}^2 + G_{\mu\nu}^2) \int_0^{y_1} F(y) + \dots$$
(5.1)

where $F_{\mu\nu}$ and $G_{\mu\nu}$ are the field strengths for photons and gluons, respectively, an immediate question arises. Can the radion be responsible for the recent $\gamma\gamma$ excess found at ATLAS and CMS [23–25]?

To answer this question we will write the Lagrangian (5.1) as an effective Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\gamma}} r(x) F_{\mu\nu}^2(x) + \frac{1}{\Lambda_G} r(x) G_{\mu\nu}^2(x)$$
(5.2)

where r(x) is the canonically normalized radion defined in eq. (4.3) and the scales $\Lambda_{\gamma,G}$ are given by

$$\Lambda_{\gamma} = \Lambda_G = \sqrt{6}e^{-A_1}M_P \left(\int e^{-2A}dy \int e^{2(A-A_1)}dy\right)^{-1/2}.$$
(5.3)

Contour lines of $\Lambda_{\gamma} = \Lambda_G$ in TeV, in the plane (a, c), which parametrize our models, are presented in figure 11.

The analysis of the values of $\Lambda_{\gamma,G}$ required to explain the $\gamma\gamma$ excess can be found in ref. [50].¹⁴ Assuming only the channels $r \to \gamma\gamma$ and $r \to gg$ the condition for the production

¹⁴A general analysis also including Λ_W can be found in ref. [51].

of a resonance of mass $M = 750 \,\text{GeV}$ and total width $\Gamma_t/M \simeq 0.06 \,\text{is}^{15}$

$$\frac{M^2}{\Lambda_{\gamma}^2} + 8\frac{M^2}{\Lambda_G^2} \simeq 0.75$$
$$\frac{M}{\Lambda_{\gamma}}\frac{M}{\Lambda_G} \simeq 1.35 \times 10^{-3}$$
(5.4)

which yields in particular the solution

$$\Lambda_{\gamma} \simeq 171 \,\mathrm{TeV}, \qquad \Lambda_G \simeq 2.44 \,\mathrm{TeV}.$$
 (5.5)

A quick glance at the plot in figure 11 shows that in the minimal theory we have presented in previous sections the radion is too weakly coupled to $\gamma\gamma$ and gg to be able to explain the alleged excess in $\gamma\gamma$ found by ATLAS and CMS.

It is clear that if the radion has to describe the diphoton excess the model has to be modified in some way. The model as defined in (2.2) and (3.2) is far from generic in the sense that many other operators can be included with the same field content and symmetries in the 5D Lagrangian. Most importantly, the way how the Golberger-Wise scalar ϕ enters the EW sector is clearly over-restrictive. Since we have an important and nontrivial scalar profile $\phi(y)$ that drives the bulk geometry, it is far from clear why should the direct couplings of the SM fields to ϕ vanish. Equation (3.2) implicitly assumed that the 5D SM fields couple universally to the 5D metric only, so that the couplings to ϕ (and thus the dilaton) arise only through the metric. However, this is more a matter of convenience and simplicity than a property that is protected by some symmetry. Thus, we find it natural in this section to include more general couplings. The simplest higher dimensional operator that do not affect the background and can have an impact on the coupling of the radion to photons and gluons is then

$$\Delta S_5 = \int d^5 x \sqrt{-g} \left[\mathcal{O}_B(\Phi) B_{MN} B^{MN} + \mathcal{O}_G(\Phi) G_{MN} G^{MN} \right]$$
(5.6)

where the operator $\mathcal{O}_X(\Phi)$ (X = B, G) is given by

$$\mathcal{O}_X(\Phi) = \frac{1}{k^2} \left(\partial_M \Phi \partial_M \Phi - W^{\prime 2}(\Phi) \right) Z_X(\Phi)$$
(5.7)

and the function Z_X is a smooth function of Φ which we will take as an exponential $Z_X(\Phi) = e^{d_X \Phi}$ with d_X a real coefficient.¹⁶ We are thus introducing a real parameter in the theory in order to fit the excess. We will not try to justify the presence of the higher dimensional operator in eq. (5.6) which should require some UV completion of the theory. Instead we will work out the region in the parameter space where the excess can be explained for a radion with mass M = 750 GeV. We will see this can be accomplished without any tuning of the theory, and with all parameters of $\mathcal{O}(1)$.

¹⁵The correlation between Λ_{γ} and Λ_{G} has also been studied in ref. [52].

¹⁶Since the superpotential in our benchmark model (2.14) displays an exponential dependence on Φ , taking $Z_X(\Phi)$ to be an exponential function appears as a natural choice.

The additional radion couplings generated by (5.6) can be obtained by expanding to linear order the prefactor as

$$(\delta_{F} + \delta_{\phi}) \left\{ \left(\partial_{M} \Phi \partial^{M} \Phi - W'^{2}(\Phi) \right) Z(\Phi) \right\} \\= -2F(y)W'^{2}Z(\phi)\mathcal{R}(x) \\+ 4\mathcal{R}(x) \left[3\ddot{F}(y) - (W(\phi) + 6W''(\phi))\dot{F}(y) + (2W(\phi)W''(\phi) - W'^{2}(\phi))F(y) \right] Z(\phi) \\= 4\mathcal{R}(x) \left(\frac{1}{2}W'^{2} - 3e^{2A}m^{2} \right) F(y)Z(\phi)$$
(5.8)

where m is the radion mass and in the last equality we have made use of the radion equation of motion. We can then write the correction to the 4D Lagrangian as

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_{rVV} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_B} r(x) B_{\mu\nu}^2(x) + \frac{1}{\Lambda_G} r(x) G_{\mu\nu}^2(x)$$
(5.9)

which then leads, after electroweak breaking, to

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_{rVV} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\gamma}} r(x) F_{\mu\nu}^2(x) + \frac{1}{\Lambda_Z} r(x) Z_{\mu\nu}^2(x) + \frac{1}{\Lambda_G} r(x) G_{\mu\nu}^2(x)$$
(5.10)

where

$$\Lambda_{\gamma} = \Lambda_B / \cos^2 \theta_W, \qquad \Lambda_Z = \Lambda_B / \sin^2 \theta_W \tag{5.11}$$

and

$$\Lambda_X = -\left(\frac{3\int e^{2(A-A_1)dy}}{8\int e^{-2A}dy}\right)^{1/2} \frac{y_1 e^{-A_1} M_P}{\int \left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{W'^2}{k^2} - 3e^{2(A-A_1)}\frac{M^2}{\rho^2}\right) Z_X e^{2(A-A_1)}dy}$$
(5.12)

for X = B, G.

Obviously from the structure of eq. (5.10) we can write the relations [50]

$$\Gamma(r \to ZZ) = \tan^4 \theta_W \Gamma(r \to \gamma\gamma), \qquad \Gamma(r \to Z\gamma) = 2 \tan^2 \theta_W \Gamma(r \to \gamma\gamma), \qquad (5.13)$$

the related decays involving Z bosons are suppressed and the bounds from the resonant ZZ productions are satisfied. Moreover the excess can be described, as we said above, for values of the effective parameters Λ_{γ} and Λ_G given in eq. (5.5). In figure 12 we plot contour lines of $\Lambda_{\gamma} = 171 \text{ TeV}$ in the plane (a, d_B) (left panels) and $\Lambda_G = 2.44 \text{ TeV}$ in the plane (a, d_G) (right panels), for the cases c = 1 (upper panels), and c = 1.5 (lower panels). We can see that that in all cases we can fix the excess for values of the parameters $|d_{B,G}|$ of $\mathcal{O}(1)$. We have fixed for all points the dilaton mass to M = 750 GeV. We can see that the values of the dilaton mass in the plots of figure 6, where we were using $U''(\phi_1) \simeq W''(\phi_1)$, are usually below 750 GeV. However this can be easily fixed by increasing the value of $U''(\phi_1)$, which can be done without any tuning of the parameters, as it was shown in the left panel of figure 4. Another possibility, of course, would be to keep $U''(\phi_1) \simeq W''(\phi_1)$ and instead increase the KK scale above $\sim 2 \text{ TeV}$, but we shall not consider it as it leads to less interesting phenomenology.



Figure 12. Contour plots of $\Lambda_{\gamma} = 171 \text{ TeV}$ (left panels) and $\Lambda_G = 2.44 \text{ TeV}$ (right panels), for the cases c = 1 (upper panels), and c = 1.5 (lower panels).

Before concluding we would like to make a few comments about the operators (5.7) and the Lagrangian (5.6). In particular the operators in (5.7) have the very special property of not providing any backreaction on the metric: they do not alter the background solution. On the other hand, although the Lagrangian is allowed by all symmetries of the theory, it is not the most general one. One could think for instance on higher dimensional couplings as

$$\Delta S_5 = \int d^5 x \sqrt{-g} \left[\mathcal{O}_W(\Phi) W_{MN} W^{MN} + \mathcal{O}_H(\Phi) D_M H^{\dagger} D^M H \right]$$
(5.14)

providing 4D corrections as

$$\Delta \mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_W} r(x) W_{\mu\nu}^2(x) + \frac{1}{\Lambda_H} r(x) D_\mu H^\dagger D^\mu H(x) \,. \tag{5.15}$$

In this paper we will not be concerned about possible UV completions of the model but we are looking for particular completions capable to fit the 750 GeV excess without perturbing our metric background. Therefore if either after integrating out the UV completion we get operators different than (5.7) or an effective Lagrangian as (5.15) all our previous conclusions will be spoiled. In the absence of any particular UV completion we will just assume that it happens. However the answer to the question on whether it is possible for the UV theory to generate (5.9) and not (5.15) is positive. For instance we could assume a UV theory with just a number of vector-like heavy (TeV) fermions localized on the IR brane. As the radion will be coupled to the mass term in the IR brane, the vector-like fermions will generate after being integrated out, in the effective theory, effective operators as in (5.9) and (5.15) without any backreaction on the metric. Moreover, if vector-like fermions have hypercharge and color and are $SU(2)_L$ singlets they generate (5.9) but not (5.15). Moreover in order to reproduce the required strength for the processes $r \to \gamma \gamma$ and $r \to gg$ it should be possible to adjust their number and masses. Work in this direction is now in progress.

6 Conclusions

In this work we have revisited the 'soft-wall' models with one warped extra dimension, and we have assessed their model-building capabilities towards realizing a light dilaton, understood as the Goldstone boson associated to spontaneously broken conformal invariance. We have identified the key ingredients present in the 5D models that allow to realize dilatons that are i) naturally light and/or ii) phenomenologically viable for various distinct applications. We have focused on two main applications:

- 1) A dilaton extension of the SM, where the dilaton is the first new state in the spectrum in addition to all the Standard Model particles (including the SM Higgs).
- 2) A diphoton resonance, that is a $\sim 750 \,\text{GeV}$ mass dilaton state as responsible for the recently found diphoton excess.

Option 1) is, of course, the simplest and least contrived to realize with 5D models. Interestingly enough, experimental data are compatible with such a dilaton being considerably light (below ~ 100 GeV), which basically comes about because the dilaton-SM couplings tend to be slightly suppressed. The strongest lower bound on the dilaton mass in this case comes from the naturalness requirement. The dilaton mass m^2 can be naturally lower than the scale of SBCI $\Lambda_{\rm KK}^2$ by a factor given by the value of the β_{Λ} function at $\Lambda_{\rm KK}$. In RG-flows that start at a finite UV scale $\Lambda_{\rm UV}$ and realize SBCI naturally, β_{Λ} is parametrically suppressed like $\beta_{\Lambda} \sim 1/\log(\Lambda_{\rm UV}/\Lambda_{\rm KK})$ [3–5]. Taking $\Lambda_{\rm UV} \sim M_{\rm Pl}$ and $\Lambda_{\rm KK} \sim 2$ TeV, one obtains that $m_{\rm dil}$ can be naturally in the ~ 20–50 GeV range, but not much smaller (without additional mechanisms). Of course the possibility that the dilaton mass is around 125 GeV, and the electroweak breaking Higgs much heavier, opens up the possibility of a dilaton as a Higgs-impostor. However the analysis of the couplings of the 125 GeV dilaton to gauge bosons and fermions highly disfavors this possibility.

Option 2) is considerably more challenging to realize. Our results show that it is possible to build well defined five-dimensional models that realize a moderately heavy (750 GeV) dilaton which could explain the diphoton excess recently found at the LHC. However, these models are less minimal and slightly tuned. Specifically, the couplings to gauge bosons have to be arranged to accommodate the diphoton excess found at LHC. These values do not follow from a symmetry breaking pattern anymore because in these models the gauge bosons break explicitly (by being in the bulk) conformal invariance

strongly enough to have no prediction on what their couplings to the dilaton are. Note that this is still compatible with the dilaton being a pseudo-Goldstone boson of SBCI.¹⁷ Note also that we are lead to this kind of model in order to be able to pass the EWPTs. The price to pay for phenomenological viability, then, is that this class of dilaton models does not make a definite prediction on the dilaton couplings to 'matter'. Accordingly, the model parameters have to be tuned. In our view, though, it seems a bit premature to rule out that there might exist other realizations of a dilaton whose couplings to fermions and gauge bosons follow from the SBCI and at the same time are compatible with experimental data. Again, a 750 GeV dilaton diphoton is not dictated by symmetries, but it can be realized consistently.

Admittedly, there are many questions that have to be left for the future, such as concerning the consistency, naturalness of our effective 5D treatment or the possibility to UV-complete it. But at the very least our construction can be taken as a concrete and working model of a dilatons that (so far) passes all experimental tests and be used to accommodate the recent diphoton excess found at LHC.

Note added. While completing this manuscript some references [53-56] where posted on arXiv where the possibility of a 750 GeV radion to explain the LHC diphoton excess was studied. In particular the results from ref. [53] disfavor a dilaton from the spontaneous breaking of conformal invariance as the source of the diphoton excess, in agreement with the general results from our section 4. The presence of the operator (5.6) permits stronger coupling of the dilaton to gauge bosons and seems to spoil the general conclusions of refs. [53, 54]. Their analyses are more restrictive because implicitly they do not allow significant additional explicit breaking of conformal invariance in the 'matter' sector. These result in additional dilaton couplings that are certainly model-dependent but very important in order for the model to be viable. As emphasized in footnote 16, they do not necessarily interfere with the scalar being a pseudo-Goldstone boson. In ref. [55] they succeed to explain the diphoton excess but giving up to explain the UV/IR full hierarchy, while in our work we insist in solving the gauge hierarchy as an initial requirement. In ref. [56] the scenario of an IR brane localized Higgs with the radion-Higgs mixing stemming from the localized action $\mathcal{R}^{(4)}|H|^2$ and a gauged custodial symmetry in the bulk is considered. However in our non-custodial models a localized Higgs is disfavored by EWPT and this was the main motivation to consider a bulk propagating Higgs.

Acknowledgments

The work of O.P. and M.Q. is partly supported by the Spanish Consolider-Ingenio 2010 Programme CPAN (CSD2007-00042), by MINECO under Grants CICYT-FEDER-FPA2011-25948 and CICYT-FEDER-FPA2014-55613-P, by the Severo Ochoa Excellence Program of MINECO under the grant SO-2012-0234 and by Secretaria d'Universitats i Recerca del

¹⁷This is clear in the models that we considered because the dilaton is indeed lighter than the KK scale at tree level. It seems that quantum effects in the bulk should not spoil this property, but a proper analysis of this question requires a separate study.

Departament d'Economia i Coneixement de la Generalitat de Catalunya under Grant 2014 SGR 1450. The work of M.Q. is also partly supported by CNPq PVE fellowship project 405559/2013-5. E.M. would like to thank the Institut de Física d'Altes Energies (IFAE), Barcelona, Spain, the Instituto de Física Teórica CSIC/UAM, Madrid, Spain, and the Departamento de Física Atómica, Molecular y Nuclear of the Universidad de Granada, Spain, for their hospitality during the completion of the final stages of this work. The work of E.M. is supported by the European Union under a Marie Curie Intra-European Fellowship (FP7-PEOPLE-2013-IEF) with project number PIEF-GA-2013-623006.

A Standard Model gauge fluctuations

We are presenting in this appendix some further technical details in the computation of section 4. In particular the 4D physical degrees of freedom from the 5D gauge fields $[W_M^{\pm}(x,y), Z_M(x,y)]$ and $[\chi_W^{\pm}(x,y), \chi_Z(x,y)]$ are the 4D massive gauge fields $[W_{\mu}^{\pm}(x), Z_{\mu}(x)]$, the Goldstone bosons $[G_W^{\pm}(x), G_Z(x)]$ and the pseudoscalars $[K_W^{\pm}(x), K_Z(x)]$.

The decomposition of gauge fields is as in eq. (2.29) while that of Goldstone bosons and pseudoscalars is given by

$$\sqrt{y_1} A_5(x, y) = \frac{1}{m_A} G_A(x) \cdot \dot{f}_A(y) - \frac{M_A^2(y)}{m_{\eta_A}^2} K_A(x) \cdot \eta_A(y)$$
$$\sqrt{y_1} \chi_A(x, y) = \frac{1}{m_A} G_A(x) \cdot f_A(y) - \frac{1}{m_{\eta_A}^2} M_A^{-2} \left(M_A^2 e^{-2A} \eta_A \right) \cdot K_A(x)$$
(A.1)

where $A = W^{\pm}, Z$ and " \cdot " indicates expansion over KK modes. The profile $\eta_A(y)$ of the pseudoscalar $K_A(x)$ satisfies the equation of motion with Dirichlet boundary conditions

$$m_{\eta_A}^2 \eta_A + \left[M_A^{-2} \left(M_A^2 e^{-2A} \eta_A \right)^{\cdot} \right]^{\cdot} - M_A^2 \eta_A = 0, \qquad \eta_A(y_\alpha) = 0$$
(A.2)

and the normalization equation

$$\frac{1}{y_1} \int_0^{y_1} M_A^2 e^{-2A} \eta_A^2 = 1.$$
 (A.3)

Notice that in the limit $M_A \to 0$ there is no massless mode for η_A since the zero mode would have the trivial wave function $\eta_A(y) \equiv 0$ consistent with the Dirichlet boundary conditions. In this case only massive KK modes do appear.

To quadratic order in the fluctuations, the 5D action for the gauge field Z_M eq. (2.28) can be written as [28]

$$S_{5} = \int d^{5}x \sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{1}{4} (Z_{\mu\nu})^{2} - \frac{1}{2} e^{-2A} (Z_{\mu5})^{2} - \frac{1}{2} M_{Z}^{2} (\partial_{\mu}\chi_{Z} - Z_{\mu})^{2} - \frac{1}{2} M_{Z}^{2} e^{-2A} (\chi_{Z}' - Z_{5})^{2} \right)$$
(A.4)

whereas for the W_M^{\pm} gauge field we have

$$S_{5} = \int d^{5}x \sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{1}{2} |W_{\mu\nu}|^{2} - e^{-2A} |W_{\mu5}|^{2} - M_{W}^{2} |\partial_{\mu}\chi_{W} - W_{\mu}|^{2} - M_{W}^{2} e^{-2A} |\chi_{W}' - W_{5}|^{2} \right). \tag{A.5}$$

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- R. Rattazzi and A. Zaffaroni, Comments on the holographic picture of the Randall-Sundrum model, JHEP 04 (2001) 021 [hep-th/0012248] [INSPIRE].
- W.D. Goldberger, B. Grinstein and W. Skiba, Distinguishing the Higgs boson from the dilaton at the Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 111802 [arXiv:0708.1463] [INSPIRE].
- [3] R. Contino, A. Pomarol and R. Rattazzi, unpublished work.
- [4] R. Rattazzi, The naturally light dilation, talk given at the Planck 2010. From the Planck Scale to the ElectroWeak Scale, CERN, Geneva 23, Switzerland, May 31–June 4 2010 and online at https://indico.cern.ch/event/75810/.
- [5] A. Pomarol, Elementary or Composite: The particle physics dilemma, talk given at the XVI IFT UAM/CSIC Xmas Workshop, Madrid, Spain, December 15–17 2010 and online pdf version at http://www.ift.uam-csic.es/workshops/Xmas10/doc/pomarol.pdf.
- [6] B. Bellazzini, C. Csáki, J. Hubisz, J. Serra and J. Terning, A Naturally Light Dilaton and a Small Cosmological Constant, Eur. Phys. J. C 74 (2014) 2790 [arXiv:1305.3919] [INSPIRE].
- [7] F. Coradeschi, P. Lodone, D. Pappadopulo, R. Rattazzi and L. Vitale, A naturally light dilaton, JHEP 11 (2013) 057 [arXiv:1306.4601] [INSPIRE].
- [8] J. Serra, A Higgs-like dilaton: viability and implications, EPJ Web Conf. 60 (2013) 17005 [arXiv:1312.0259] [INSPIRE].
- [9] E. Megias and O. Pujolàs, Naturally light dilatons from nearly marginal deformations, JHEP 08 (2014) 081 [arXiv:1401.4998] [INSPIRE].
- [10] P. Cox and T. Gherghetta, A Soft-Wall Dilaton, JHEP 02 (2015) 006 [arXiv:1411.1732]
 [INSPIRE].
- [11] E. Megias, A holographic realization of light dilatons, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 670 (2016) 012034
 [arXiv:1510.01990] [INSPIRE].
- [12] ATLAS and CMS collaborations, Measurements of the Higgs boson production and decay rates and constraints on its couplings from a combined ATLAS and CMS analysis of the LHC pp collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, ATLAS-CONF-2015-044 (2015) [INSPIRE].
- T. Appelquist and Y. Bai, A Light Dilaton in Walking Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 071701 [arXiv:1006.4375] [INSPIRE].
- [14] B. Grinstein and P. Uttayarat, A Very Light Dilaton, JHEP 07 (2011) 038
 [arXiv:1105.2370] [INSPIRE].
- [15] L. Vecchi, Phenomenology of a light scalar: the dilaton, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 076009
 [arXiv:1002.1721] [INSPIRE].
- [16] I. Low, J. Lykken and G. Shaughnessy, Have We Observed the Higgs (Imposter)?, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 093012 [arXiv:1207.1093] [INSPIRE].
- [17] Z. Chacko and R.K. Mishra, Effective Theory of a Light Dilaton, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 115006 [arXiv:1209.3022] [INSPIRE].

- [18] Z. Chacko, R. Franceschini and R.K. Mishra, Resonance at 125 GeV: Higgs or Dilaton/Radion?, JHEP 04 (2013) 015 [arXiv:1209.3259] [INSPIRE].
- [19] B. Bellazzini, C. Csáki, J. Hubisz, J. Serra and J. Terning, A Higgslike Dilaton, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2333 [arXiv:1209.3299] [INSPIRE].
- [20] Z. Chacko, R.K. Mishra and D. Stolarski, Dynamics of a Stabilized Radion and Duality, JHEP 09 (2013) 121 [arXiv:1304.1795] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D. Elander, R. Lawrance and M. Piai, Hyperscaling violation and Electroweak Symmetry Breaking, Nucl. Phys. B 897 (2015) 583 [arXiv:1504.07949] [INSPIRE].
- [22] G. Servant, Baryogenesis from Strong CP Violation and the QCD Axion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 171803 [arXiv:1407.0030] [INSPIRE].
- [23] J. Olsen and M. Kado, ATLAS and CMS physics results from Run 2, CERN, Geneva 23, Switzerland, December 15 2015 and online at https://indico.cern.ch/event/442432/.
- [24] ATLAS collaboration, Search for resonances decaying to photon pairs in 3.2 fb^{-1} of pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, ATLAS-CONF-2015-081 (2015) [INSPIRE].
- [25] CMS collaboration, Search for resonances decaying to photon pairs in 3.2 fb⁻¹ of pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ with the ATLAS detector, CMS PAS EXO-15-004 (2015) [INSPIRE].
- [26] J.A. Cabrer, G. von Gersdorff and M. Quirós, Soft-Wall Stabilization, New J. Phys. 12 (2010) 075012 [arXiv:0907.5361] [INSPIRE].
- [27] J.A. Cabrer, G. von Gersdorff and M. Quirós, Warped Electroweak Breaking Without Custodial Symmetry, Phys. Lett. B 697 (2011) 208 [arXiv:1011.2205] [INSPIRE].
- [28] J.A. Cabrer, G. von Gersdorff and M. Quirós, Suppressing Electroweak Precision Observables in 5D Warped Models, JHEP 05 (2011) 083 [arXiv:1103.1388] [INSPIRE].
- [29] N. Brouzakis and M. Quirós, Unitarity and singular backgrounds, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 096007 [arXiv:1309.3402] [INSPIRE].
- [30] O. DeWolfe, D.Z. Freedman, S.S. Gubser and A. Karch, Modeling the fifth-dimension with scalars and gravity, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 046008 [hep-th/9909134] [INSPIRE].
- [31] S.S. Gubser, Curvature singularities: The Good, the bad and the naked, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (2000) 679 [hep-th/0002160] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Csáki, M.L. Graesser and G.D. Kribs, Radion dynamics and electroweak physics, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 065002 [hep-th/0008151] [INSPIRE].
- [33] C. Csáki, J. Hubisz and S.J. Lee, Radion phenomenology in realistic warped space models, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 125015 [arXiv:0705.3844] [INSPIRE].
- [34] E. Megias O. Pujolàs, M. Quirós and Y. Zhong, *Mass formulae in Einstein-dilaton gravity theories*, in preparation.
- [35] J. Garriga, O. Pujolàs and T. Tanaka, Moduli effective action in warped brane world compactifications, Nucl. Phys. B 655 (2003) 127 [hep-th/0111277] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Flachi, J. Garriga, O. Pujolàs and T. Tanaka, Moduli stabilization in higher dimensional brane models, JHEP 08 (2003) 053 [hep-th/0302017] [INSPIRE].
- [37] E. Ponton, TASI 2011: Four Lectures on TeV Scale Extra Dimensions, arXiv:1207.3827
 [INSPIRE].

- [38] M.E. Peskin and T. Takeuchi, Estimation of oblique electroweak corrections, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 381 [INSPIRE].
- [39] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, K.A. Olive et al., Review of Particle Physics, Chin. Phys. C 38 (2014) 090001 [INSPIRE].
- [40] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, A Large mass hierarchy from a small extra dimension, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 3370 [hep-ph/9905221] [INSPIRE].
- [41] A. Karch, E. Katz, D.T. Son and M.A. Stephanov, *Linear confinement and AdS/QCD*, *Phys. Rev.* D 74 (2006) 015005 [hep-ph/0602229] [INSPIRE].
- [42] U. Gürsoy and E. Kiritsis, Exploring improved holographic theories for QCD: Part I, JHEP
 02 (2008) 032 [arXiv:0707.1324] [INSPIRE].
- [43] U. Gürsoy, E. Kiritsis and F. Nitti, Exploring improved holographic theories for QCD: Part II, JHEP 02 (2008) 019 [arXiv:0707.1349] [INSPIRE].
- [44] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [45] K. Yang, Y.-X. Liu, Y. Zhong, X.-L. Du and S.-W. Wei, Gravity localization and mass hierarchy in scalar-tensor branes, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 127502 [arXiv:1212.2735] [INSPIRE].
- [46] Q.-Y. Xie, Z.-H. Zhao, Y. Zhong, J. Yang and X.-N. Zhou, Localization and mass spectra of various matter fields on scalar-tensor brane, JCAP 03 (2015) 014 [arXiv:1410.5911] [INSPIRE].
- [47] J.A. Cabrer, G. von Gersdorff and M. Quirós, Flavor Phenomenology in General 5D Warped Spaces, JHEP 01 (2012) 033 [arXiv:1110.3324] [INSPIRE].
- [48] G.F. Giudice, R. Rattazzi and J.D. Wells, Graviscalars from higher dimensional metrics and curvature Higgs mixing, Nucl. Phys. B 595 (2001) 250 [hep-ph/0002178] [INSPIRE].
- [49] B. Grzadkowski, J.F. Gunion and M. Toharia, *Higgs-Radion interpretation of the LHC data?*, *Phys. Lett.* B 712 (2012) 70 [arXiv:1202.5017] [INSPIRE].
- [50] R. Franceschini et al., What is the $\gamma\gamma$ resonance at 750 GeV?, JHEP 03 (2016) 144 [arXiv:1512.04933] [INSPIRE].
- [51] Q.-H. Cao, Y. Liu, K.-P. Xie, B. Yan and D.-M. Zhang, A Boost Test of Anomalous Diphoton Resonance at the LHC, arXiv:1512.05542 [INSPIRE].
- [52] J. Chakrabortty, A. Choudhury, P. Ghosh, S. Mondal and T. Srivastava, *Di-photon resonance around 750 GeV: shedding light on the theory underneath*, arXiv:1512.05767 [INSPIRE].
- [53] B. Bellazzini, R. Franceschini, F. Sala and J. Serra, Goldstones in Diphotons, JHEP 04 (2016) 072 [arXiv:1512.05330] [INSPIRE].
- [54] R.S. Gupta, S. Jäger, Y. Kats, G. Perez and E. Stamou, Interpreting a 750 GeV Diphoton Resonance, arXiv:1512.05332 [INSPIRE].
- [55] P. Cox, A.D. Medina, T.S. Ray and A. Spray, Diphoton Excess at 750 GeV from a Radion in the Bulk-Higgs Scenario, arXiv:1512.05618 [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Ahmed, B.M. Dillon, B. Grzadkowski, J.F. Gunion and Y. Jiang, *Higgs-radion* interpretation of 750 GeV di-photon excess at the LHC, arXiv:1512.05771 [INSPIRE].